OCTOBER 2017

Benefit-Cost Analysis of Selected Actions from the Thurston Climate Adaptation Plan



Earth Economics

http://www.eartheconomics.org/ info@eartheconomics.org

Report Version 1.2

Primary Authors:

Corrine Armistead, GIS Analyst, Earth Economics Peter Casey, Research Lead, Earth Economics Maya Kocian, Senior Program Director, Earth Economics Lola Flores, Project Director, Earth Economics

Year: 2017 Suggested Citation:

Armistead, C., Casey, P., Kocian, M., Flores, L. 2017. Benefit-Cost Analysis of Selected Actions from the Thurston Climate Adaptation Plan. Earth Economics, Tacoma, WA.

Funded By: Thurston Regional Planning Council

Acknowledgements—Thank you to all who supported this project: Special thanks to Veena Tabbutt (TRPC), Michael Burnham (TRPC), Michael Ambrogi (TRPC) for their contributions to the completion of this report.

Earth Economics: Jessica Hanson, Ken Cousins and Bennett Melville for their support.

We would also like to thank Earth Economics' Board of Directors for their continued guidance and support: Alex Bernhardt, David Cosman, Elizabeth Hendrix, George Northcroft, Greg Forge, Ingrid Rasch, Molly Seaverns, and Sherry Richardson.

The authors are responsible for the content of this report. ©2017 by Earth Economics. Reproduction of this publication for educational or other non-commercial purposes is authorized without prior written permission from the copyright holder provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of this publication for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without prior written permission of the copyright holder.

Cover Photo: Pioneer Park in Tumwater, Source: Orin Blomberg

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	1
Executive Summary	2
Introduction	3
Study Overview	5
Holistic BCA Methods	8
Holistic BCA Results	9
Conclusions and Recommendations	11
Glossary of Terms	12
Appendix A – BCA Limitations	13
Appendix B – Ecosystem Service Tables	14
Appendix C – Ecosystem Services Benefit Transfer References	16
Appendix D – Action G-12 Benefit, Avoided Cost of Service Provision	20
Appendix E – Action G-12 Cost, Impact Fees and Tax Exemption	23
Appendix F – Land Cover Estimates	25
References	27

Executive Summary

The *Thurston Climate Adaptation Plan* is an important step toward ensuring community resilience and economic sustainability. As part of this plan, the Thurston Regional Planning Council is considering several actions to prepare for climate change impacts.

This report provides a holistic benefit-cost analysis (BCA) for two climate adaptation actions identified in the *Thurston Climate Adaptation Plan*, going beyond traditional economic measures (e.g., capital costs, acquisition costs) to take nature's services into account. Action F-01 evaluates and secures sustained funding to restore and protect riparian vegetation along freshwater and marine shorelines. Action G-12 aims to increase incentives for targeted urban development, ensure that redevelopment projects are financially viable. The benefit-cost ratio (BCR) is the dollar value of benefits produced by each dollar of related costs; in other words, the return on investment for every \$1 in expenditures or forfeited revenue. Our BCA results show that both of these adaptation actions will provide significantly greater ecosystem service benefits that should be taken into account when considering whether to take other actions. Highlights include:

- The BCR for Action F-01 ranges from 1.73 (based on low estimates of the value of ecosystem services) to 9.34 (based on high estimates).
- The BCR for Action G-12 ranges from 14.78 (low estimates) to 18.15 (high estimates).
- Ecosystem services in restored riparian areas will produce between \$2,644 and \$8,311 per acre, every year.

Additional community benefits, such as expanded employment opportunities and associated income have not been included in this analysis. Even without these benefits, investing in climate adaptation in Thurston County offers exceptionally good returns.

Introduction

Watersheds within the Thurston Region and around the Puget Sound face a range of threats from natural hazards, including droughts, floods, and fires. In the coming years, climate change will intensify these natural hazards and, subsequently, their effects on underprepared populations. With funding from the National Estuary Program (NEP), the Thurston Regional Planning Council (TRPC) is working to better prepare communities for future threats through regional planning efforts.

TRPC is developing "a watershed-based climate adaptation plan with actions the Thurston County region could take to prepare for and adjust to climate change impacts in the decades ahead."ⁱ This plan includes 90 actions, split into six broad categories that include drought and water quality; flood and erosion; and, transportation and energy.ⁱⁱ An additional component of plan development is the use of benefit-cost analysis (BCA) to evaluate possible actions. In this report, Earth Economics presents a more holistic assessment of the benefits and costs of two proposed climate adaptation actions to Thurston County, including the benefits provided by ecosystem services, as well as more conventional metrics of benefits and costs.

BCA is a proven economic tool for developing environmental, health, and safety regulations.ⁱⁱⁱ Traditional BCAs include economic benefits and costs occurring within the market, like acquisition and maintenance costs. A holistic BCA includes these traditional market measures, but also incorporates non-market benefits and costs, such as ecosystem services and social impacts. Environmental and social benefits are often just as tangible as economic benefits. For example, families displaced by flooding experience a social cost. Incorporating economic, environmental, and social benefits and costs into policy analysis provides a more holistic perspective of what people value, whether or not a market transaction occurs. Ecosystems are vital to economies, providing essential goods and services that enable cities, communities, households, and their residents to thrive. However, society has largely undervalued the importance of functioning ecosystems, leading to the degradation or destruction of natural assets. This loss of natural assets translates to tangible economic costs. For example, the loss of free flood protection provided by natural wetlands necessitates replacements. The ecosystem function that generates flood risk reduction must be replaced with costly levees, and flooded houses must be fixed.

To avoid ecosystem losses, it is important to include ecosystem service benefits in decision making. Economic value can be assigned by employing ecosystem services valuation, a method that economists use to ascribe monetary value to ecosystem services. For example, in 2012, Earth Economics assessed Thurston County's ecosystems, finding that they provide at least \$608 million in economic benefits to the regional economy *every year*.^{xii} These economic benefits come from ecosystem services such as flood reduction, habitat, and water supply.

Use of Ecosystem Services in BCAs

While far from fully recognized, ecosystem service values have been included in local and federal policy discussions in recent decades. This section highlights environmental and public health policy decisions that incorporated non-market benefits, including ecosystem services.

In 1995, Meyer et al. conducted a BCA that relied heavily on people's willingness to pay for preservation and use of the Elwha River.^{iv} This study found that non-market benefits exceeded market benefits by a factor of over 100. The results of this analysis influenced the decision to restore the Elwha River by removing two dams.

On a broader scale, the U.S. Forest Service incorporated non-market benefits into forest management decisions in 1996. One USFS report found that accounting for the non-market benefits of federal land aligned with the economic objectives of federal land management, which require that lands are managed to "maximize net public benefits".^v Non-market methods used by environmental economists can be adapted by economists working in other policy contexts. For example, revealed and stated preference valuations are used to estimate the benefits of health hazard reduction, such as willingness to pay for fire alarms, automobile safety, or an improvement in quality of life.^{vi} Given the efficacy of non-market benefit estimation in a variety of policy contexts, policy decisions with a significant impact on natural capital or ecosystem services-producing land should incorporate non-market benefits into policy analysis.

Prior use of Ecosystem Services by Earth Economics

In Seattle, the \$6.4 million Thornton Creek Confluence Project, an urban stream daylighting and floodplain expansion project, relied on a holistic BCA for approval. During the planning phase, Seattle Public Utilities produced a BCA that included not only flood risk reduction and infrastructure operations and maintenance cost reduction outcomes, but also habitat improvement benefits.^{vii} These economic benefits, calculated by Earth Economics, helped demonstrate that the project would have a positive net return. The project was subsequently approved by the Asset Management Committee, Seattle Public Utilities' decision-making body.

Mojica et al. conducted a BCA of four dams on the Lower Snake River, correcting an earlier cost benefit analysis that didn't account for non-market benefits. When lost recreation benefits were incorporated into a BCA of the dams, the benefit-cost ratio of the dams sank to 0.15, indicating that every dollar spent provided a benefit of 15 cents.^{viii}

Earth Economics specializes in the valuation of non-market benefits provided by natural landscapes. Recently, Earth Economics and Royal Engineering conducted an ecosystem services valuation of Louisiana's coastal wetlands, projecting future land cover types.^{ix} These projections were based upon changes in hydrology resulting from installation of sediment diversions near the mouth of the Mississippi River. The change in ecosystem services value between different scenarios was viewed as the benefit in a BCA of sediment diversion installation.

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) requires all applicants to its hazard mitigation grant programs to demonstrate a benefit-to-cost ratio greater than one to qualify. In 2013, FEMA

became the first federal agency to adopt ecosystem services valuation in formal policy. The policy was approved using values and concepts provided by Earth Economics. Faced with rising natural disaster costs and climate uncertainty, FEMA approved Mitigation Policy FP-108-024-01, which allows the inclusion of ecosystem services in BCA for flood-related acquisition projects. In 2016, FEMA adopted additional values provided by Earth Economics that added ecosystem services values for drought and wildfire mitigation. Today, leaders are able to make more informed decisions, leading to stronger, more cost-effective projects that take nature into account and save taxpayer dollars.

Study Overview

This analysis develops BCAs for two proposed climate adaptation actions within TRPC's climate adaptation plan to serve as examples of how to conduct a holistic BCA. The plan targets actions to implement in the Thurston County portion of three watersheds (the Nisqually, Deschutes, and Kennedy/Goldsborough (WRIA 11, 13, and 14)). Situated directly along Southern Puget Sound, this region offers a diverse landscape of coastal lowlands, prairie flatlands and foothills of the Cascade mountain range. The population centers of Olympia, Lacey, and Tumwater, with a combined 100,000+ residents, also fall within the planning area (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Climate Adaptation Planning Region

As determined in agreement with TRPC and the stakeholder group, Action F-01 and Action G-12 were selected for sample BCAs.ⁱⁱ To illustrate benefits and costs, specific planning scenarios are associated with each action. As depicted in Figure 2, the planning scenario for each action in this analysis focuses on only a portion of the larger study region. These sample planning scenarios provide quantitative inputs for a holistic BCA that can be adjusted or replicated as other implementation scenarios or actions are considered. The two BCAs developed in this analysis provide a model for the inclusion of ecosystem services and additional non-market benefits into assessments of climate adaptation actions. Details of Action F-01 and Action G-12 are provide below.





Action F-01

Action F-01 proposes to evaluate and secure sustained funding to restore and protect riparian vegetation along freshwater and marine shorelines. Restoration along the Deschutes River is the planning scenario utilized to demonstrate the benefits and costs of Action F-01. Extensive planning has been completed in this watershed, related to multiple Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) studies and other impairments. TRPC used the shade allocation targets identified in the Deschutes River TMDL to estimate the change in land cover under a restoration and conservation scenario.

Similar scenario development in other watersheds could be used in additional Action F-01 BCAs. The degree of riparian restoration needed along stretches of the Deschutes River is highlighted in Figure 3.





Action G-12

Action G-12 proposes to increase incentives to improve the financial viability of targeted urban development and redevelopment projects in designated centers, corridors, and neighborhood centers. This action can both preserve rural natural assets by avoiding development and enhance residents' resilience by shortening their distance to services. The implementation scenario of Action G-12 used in this analysis is region-wide, and was developed as the Preferred Land Use scenario of the Sustainable Thurston project, a region-wide visioning project completed in 2013. The Preferred Land Use scenario represented a "compact" growth scenario compared to the Baseline scenario – or adopted land use plans projection. The targets from the Preferred Land Use Scenario^{xi} are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Zones of Future Development within Thurston Region

Holistic BCA Methods

Ecosystem Services Valuation

Ecosystem service benefits are included in the BCA for both actions. The derivation of ecosystem service values follows the methodology presented in Earth Economics' 2012 report, *The Natural Value of Thurston County, A Rapid Ecosystem Service Valuation*.^{xii} Updates were made to 2012 values based on improved valuation literature. The per-acre ecosystem service values used in the following BCAs are presented in Appendix B.

Action F-01 Benefit and Cost Methods

This particular action requires restoration of riparian lands, converting currently developed, agricultural, or non-optimal vegetated lands to forests. The benefit from Action F-01 is expressed as the difference between ecosystem services values of current baseline land cover and projected land cover under successful implementation. TRPC provided data on project costs, including restoration and the acquisition of easements on private land, based on 40 Thurston County riparian restoration

projects listed in the Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office's PRISM database.^{xiii} Projects were funded between 1999 and 2016.

Please note that not all expected costs and benefits were included in this analysis (e.g., benefits of improved or restored salmon runs due to riparian restoration).

Action G-12 Benefit and Cost Methods

The evaluation of this action is based upon the expected benefits and costs associated with incentivizing downtown development and redevelopment, as an alternative to continuing current suburban expansion rates. The benefits of Action G-12 are based upon the difference in ecosystem services provided by the Baseline (i.e., adopted land use plans) and Preferred Land Use scenarios. Additional benefits are experienced by county, city, and town governments in the form of avoided service provisioning costs. The costs of Action G-12 include foregone government revenues from impact fee decreases and tax exemptions. Details on the methods used to evaluate Action G-12 are provided in Appendices D and E.

Holistic BCA Results

Action F-01 Results

Action F-01 provides a benefit-cost ratio ranging from 1.73 to 9.34, based on the low and high ecosystem services estimates, respectively. Appendix B (Table 4) details the per land cover ecosystem service values utilized to represent benefits. The total and per-acre costs of restoration on both public and private land are displayed in Table 1. The net present costs and benefits of restoration and the associated benefit-cost ratios are shown in Table 2.

	Program Costs		
	Private Land	Public Land	
Acreage of Converted Land	510	35	
Avg. Restoration Cost (\$/acre)	\$13,866	\$13,866	
Avg. Easement Cost (\$/acre)	\$9,457	\$0	
Total Cost (\$/acre)	\$23,323	\$13,866	
Costs (2016\$)	\$11,894,730	\$485,310	
Public + Private (2016\$)	\$12,380,040		

Table 1. Action	n F-01: Per-Acre a	and Total Costs

	Net Present Value				
	Low High				
2.875% Discount Rate	\$21,382,000	\$115,633,000			
Benefit-Cost Ratio	1.73	9.34			

Table 2. Action F-01: Fifty Year Net Present Value and Benefit-Cost Ratios

Action G-12 Results

Action G-12 provides a BCR ranging from 14.78 to 18.15 when ecosystem service benefits are included, based on the low and high estimates of the value of these nonmarket benefits, relative to a baseline of continued suburban growth. In other words, Thurston County can expect between \$14.78 and \$18.15 in benefits for every dollar it invests in targeted urban development and redevelopment. The Preferred Land Use scenario preserves 6,175 acres of rural land, ensuring the yearly production of \$12-\$17 million in ecosystem services over the baseline (2016\$).

The net present value over a 50-year period (2.875% discount rate) for all ecosystem service benefits (see Appendix B) and avoided public service provisioning costs (see Appendix D) is between \$1.05 billion and \$1.29 billion.

Reducing impact development fees for multifamily projects in urban areas, such as downtown Olympia, Lacey's Woodland District, and Tumwater's Town Center, Capitol Corridor, and Brewery District, results in a one-time loss of \$260,000. Additional tax incentives for urban development under the Preferred Land Use scenario would reduce city, county, and state revenue by a total of \$71 million (see Appendix E for further details). Net present costs, benefits, and BCRs associated with Action G-12 are presented in Table 3. The land cover changes on which these net present values are based are shown in Appendix B in Table 5.

	Low	High		
NPV of Ecosystem Services*	\$343,260,000	\$582,072,000		
Avoided Public Service Costs*	\$703,498,000			
Total Benefits	\$1,046,758,000	\$1,285,570,000		
	Cost	5		
Foregone Impact Fees	\$260,	000		
Tax Exemptions	\$70,581,000			
Total Costs (2016\$)	\$70,841,000			
Benefit-Cost Ratios	14.78 18.15			

 Table 3. Action G-12: 50-Year Net Present Values and Benefit-Cost Ratios

* 2.875 discount rate, over 50 years.

Conclusions and Recommendations

This report provides a benefit-cost analysis of two actions from the *Thurston Climate Adaptation Plan* and highlights the importance of including ecosystem services and social impacts in the region's decision-making process. Earth Economics' earlier work revealed that Thurston County provide goods and services are valued at least \$608 million every year. Any decision with the potential to affect the value of the goods and services provided by ecosystems must consider the entire range of benefits and costs to ensure that a course of action will maximize net public benefits.

Understanding the immense value of ecosystem services, which ultimately shape the regional economy, is a critical first step in developing policies, investing public dollars, and making decisions regarding natural resource management and flood mitigation.

Earth Economics recommends the following next steps:

- Include Ecosystem Services and Social Benefits in Future Benefit-Cost Analyses. As local governments consider courses of action to address floodplain management and climate adaptation needs in the region, officials should consider the costs and benefits of their actions with regard to ecosystem services. BCAs that incorporate ESV can provide governments, organizations, and private landowners a way to calculate the true rate of return on conservation and restoration investments. Including ecosystem services values also allows for the full consideration of green and grey alternatives to infrastructure projects. A handful of state and federal agencies, including FEMA, already include ESV in their formal BCAs (Mitigation Policy FP-108-024-01, 2013). Thurston County jurisdictions should join the ranks of these leading agencies and include ESV in future BCAs.
- Engage Stakeholders to Expand Benefits and Costs Under Action Scenarios. Ultimately, a holistic BCA for all action items in the *Thurston Climate Adaption Plan*, that involves land use changes, would support jurisdictions' decision-making processes and base decisions on what people value, as opposed to solely the market transactions that take place.
- **Protect and Restore Natural Capital.** Farmland preservation, salmon habitat restoration, and flood damage mitigation are priorities for the Thurston Region. TRPC partners can help accelerate this work by advocating for the acceptance and application of ecosystem service valuation, and a holistic approach to benefit-cost analysis, in the jurisdictions' planning processes. Taking this approach will lead to additional conservation efforts throughout the Thurston Region, and support long-term economic growth.

Glossary of Terms

Benefit-cost analysis: A common tool that compares the present-day cost of a project with its long-term benefits, often used by decision makers to determine whether or not a project will be funded.

Benefit-cost ratio: The dollar value of benefit per dollar of associated cost. If a ratio number is higher than 1, then the project is typically funded. A project with a benefit-cost ratio greater than 1 indicates that the project benefits outweigh the costs. A project with a benefit-cost ratio less than 1 indicates that the project's costs outweigh the benefits.

Discount rate: The rate at which people value current consumption or income, compared with later consumption or income. It determines the present value of future cash, due to uncertainty, productivity, or time preference for the present.

Ecosystem goods and services: Benefits obtained from ecosystems. Goods are tangible, and often traded in markets (e.g., potable water, fish, timber). Services provide less tangible, often non-market benefits (e.g., flood protection, water quality, climate stability).

Market-based valuation: Value estimates based on observed willingness-to-pay for a given good or service (i.e., market pricing).

Natural capital: Earth's stock of organic and inorganic materials and energies (renewable and nonrenewable) and living biological systems (ecosystems) which constitute the biophysical context for the human economy and human wellbeing.

Net present benefits: The measure of the total benefits in today's dollars, including future benefits which have been annually discounted over a pre-determined period of time (e.g., project period).

Net present cost: The costs expressed in discounted present values. Future costs which have been annually discounted over a pre-determined period of time (e.g., project period).

Net present value: The measure of the total value in today's dollars, including future contributions which have been annually discounted over a pre-determined period of time (e.g., project period).

Non-market value: A value recognized by people but not usually expressed in prices because the valuable thing either is not currently, or cannot conceivably, be traded in markets.

Riparian areas: Habitat which is immediately adjacent to freshwater areas (e.g. marshes, forests, etc.).

Appendix A – BCA Limitations

BCA Limitations

The BCAs conducted for this report do not provide a complete estimation of all potential benefits arising from these actions. For example, the riparian restoration in Action F-01 may be associated with increased levels of recreation, which improves the health of the local population. This increase in health is not accounted for within the analysis. Similarly, Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) in Action G-12 are excluded, which could be expected to reduce local air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions and total commuting time. The change in ecosystem services brought about by Actions F-01 and G-12 may result in a change in consumer behavior. The increased density of downtown and urban centers will increase the number of businesses that can be supported within the areas and may encourage employers to move in and take advantage of an expanded market. These unquantified benefits were outside the scope of the report and would require a great deal more data and time to incorporate into the analysis in a quantitative manner.

Appendix B – Ecosystem Service Tables

Land cover acreages for each scenario were developed by Thurston Regional Planning Council. Methodology is described in Appendix F.

Land Cover		Acres		Annual Value			
	Baseline Scenario	Restoration Scenario	Change	Low \$/acre	High \$/acre	Change (Low)	Change (High)
Developed							
Barren Land	2.2	0	-2.2	\$0	\$0	0	0
Developed, High Intensity	1.4	0.02	-1.3	\$0	\$0	0	0
Developed, Medium Intensity	11.0	0.06	-11	\$0	\$0	0	0
Developed, Low Intensity	78.2	0.2	-78	\$0	\$0	0	0
Developed, Open Space	45.2	2.0	-43	\$0	\$0	0	0
Shoreline	11.6	0	-12	\$0	\$0	0	0
Cultivated							
Field Crops	9.3	0	-9.3	\$719	\$1,959	(\$6,683)	(\$18,196)
Pastures	82	0	-82.1	\$2,334	\$2,345	(\$191,636)	(\$192,532)
Forest							
Deciduous	115	229	114.5	\$2,787	\$8,311	\$318,961	\$951,213
Evergreen	298	596	298.5	\$2,644	\$8,235	\$789,166	\$2,458,032
Mixed	132	264	132	\$2,648	\$8,172	\$349,676	\$1,079,263
Grasslands	84	0.10	-84	\$4,972	\$5,430	(\$418,848)	(\$457,461)
Shrublands	223	0.7	-222.1	\$606	\$1,153	(\$134,512)	(\$256,163)
Wetlands							
Forested/Woody	395	395	-0.05	\$16,006	\$19,847	(\$815)	(\$1,011)
Totals						\$705,308	\$3,563,145

Table 4.	Action I	-01	Acreage	and	Value	Change
----------	----------	-----	---------	-----	-------	--------

Note: This analysis includes the value of both carbon storage and carbon sequestration (i.e., the additional carbon stored each year). Only the latter are reflected in Table 4. The change in carbon stock value from baseline to restoration ranges from a low of \$2,261,000 to a high of \$19,039,000.

Acres			Annual Value				
Land Cover	Baseline Scenario	Preferred Land Use Scenario	Change	Low \$/acre	High \$/acre	Change (Low)	Change (High)
Cultivated							
Field Crops	5,910	6,052	142	719	1,959	\$101,944	\$277,579
Pastures	34,272	35,517	1,245	2,334	2,345	\$2,905,868	\$2,919,454
Forest							
Deciduous	26,108	26,843	735	2,563	4,057	\$1,883,871	\$2,981,950
Evergreen	135,334	136,847	1,513	2,420	3,981	\$3,662,480	\$6,024,718
Mixed	46,553	47,518	965	2,424	3,918	\$2,339,311	\$3,781,395
Grasslands	35,946	36,519	574	1,052	1,454	\$603,669	\$834,505
Shrublands	67,190	68,191	1,001	543	551	\$543,638	\$551,596
Wetlands							
Forested/Woody	26,645	26,645	0	15,587	19,709	\$0	\$0
Grass/herbaceous	289	289	0	9,201	10,056	\$0	\$0
Totals	378,247	384,422	6,175			\$12,040,782	\$17,371,197

Table 5. Action G-12 Acreage and Value Change

Note: This analysis includes the value of both carbon storage and carbon sequestration (i.e., the additional carbon stored each year). Only the latter are reflected in Table 5. The change in carbon stock value from baseline to restoration ranges from a low of \$16,842,000 to a high of \$111,149,000.

Appendix C – Ecosystem Services Benefit Transfer References

Non-Carbon

Alavalapati, J. R., Stainback, G. A., Carter, D. R. 2002. Restoration of the longleaf pine ecosystem on private lands in the US South: an ecological economic analysis. Ecological Economics 40: 411-419.

Anielski, M., Wilson, S. J. 2005. Counting Canada's Natural Capital: Assessing the Real Value of Canada's Boreal Ecosystems.

Bastian, C. T., McLeod, D. M., Germino, M. J., Reiners, W. A., Blasko, B. J. 2002. Environmental amenities and agricultural land values: a hedonic model using geographic information systems data. Ecological Economics 40: 337-349.

Costanza, R., Wilson, M., Troy, A., Voinov, A., Voinov, A., Liu, S., D'Agostino, J. 2006. The Value of New Jersey's Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital.

Delfino, K., Skuja, M., Albers, D. 2007. Economic Oasis: Revealing the True Value of the Mojave Desert.

Gascoigne, W. R., Hoag, D., Koontz, L., Tangen, B. A., Shaffer, T. L., Gleason, R. A. 2011. Valuing ecosystem and economic services across land-use scenarios in the Prairie Pothole Region of the Dakotas, USA. Ecological Economics 70(10): 1715-1725.

Gupta, T. R., Foster, J. H. 1975. Economic criteria for freshwater wetland policy in Massachusetts. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 57(1): 40-45.

Hovde, B., Leitch, J. A. 1994. Valuing Prairie Potholes: Five Case Studies. North Dakota State University.

Johnston, R. J., Opaluch, J. J., Grigalunas, T. A., Mazzotta, M. J. 2001. Estimating Amenity Benefits of Coastal Farmland. Growth and Change 32(3): 305-325.

Kline, J. D., Alig, R. J., Johnson, R. L. 2000. Forest owner incentives to protect riparian habitat. Ecological Economics 33: 29-43.

Knoche, S., Lupi, F. 2007. Valuing deer hunting ecosystem services from farm landscapes. Ecological Economics 64(2): 313-320.

Knoche, S., Lupi, F., Suiter, A. 2015. Harvesting benefits from habitat restoration: Influence of landscape position on economic benefits to pheasant hunters. Ecological Economics 113: 97-105.

Ko, J. 2007. The Economic Value of Ecosystem Services Provided by the Galveston Bay/Estuary System. Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.

McPherson, E. G. 1992. Accounting for benefits and costs of urban greenspace. Landscape and Urban Planning 22: 41-51.

McPherson, E. G., Simpson, J. R., Peper, P. J., Xiao, Q. 1999. Benefit-Cost Analysis of Modesto's Municipal Urban Forest. Journal of Arboriculture 25(5): 235-248.

Moore, R., Williams, T., Rodriguez, E., Hepinstall-Cymmerman, J. 2011. Quantifying the value of non-timber ecosystem services from Georgia's private forests. Georgia Forestry Foundation.

Pimentel, D. 1998. Economic and Environmental Benefits of Biological Diversity in the State of Maryland. Therres, Glenn D (ed.) Maryland Department of Natural Resources.

Qiu, Z., Prato, T. 1998. Economic Evaluation of Riparian Buffers in an Agricultural Watershed. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 34(4): 877-890.

Qiu, Z., Prato, T., Boehm, G. 2006. Economic Valuation of Riparian Buffer and Open Space in a Suburban Watershed. Lanfear, Kenneth J (ed.) Journal of the American Water Resources Association 42(6): 1583-1596.

Rein, F. A. 1999. An economic analysis of vegetative buffer strip implementation. Case study: Elkhorn Slough, Monterey Bay, California. Coastal Zone Management Journal 27(4): 377-390.

Richardson, R. B. 2005. The Economic Benefits of California Desert Wildlands: 10 Years Since the California Desert Protection Act of 1994. The Wilderness Society.

Richer, J. 1995. Willingness to Pay for Desert Protection. Contemporary Economic Policy 13(4): 93-104.

Schmidt, J. P., Moore, R. G., Alber, M. 2014. Integrating ecosystem services and local government finances into land use planning: A case study from coastal Georgia. Landscape and Urban Planning 122: 56-67.

Sengupta, S., Osgood, D. E. 2003. The Value of Remoteness: a hedonic estimation of ranchette prices. Ecological Economics 44(1): 91-103.

Standiford, R. B., Huntsinger, L. 2012. Valuing forestland environmental services: a case study for California's Oak Woodlands. ISFE (International Symposium of Forest Economics).

Swanson, C. S., Loomis, J. B. 1996. Role of Nonmarket Economic Values in Benefit-Cost Analysis of Public Forest Management. United States Forest Service (USFS).

Trust for Public Land, 2010. The Economic Benefits and Fiscal Impact of Parks and Open Space in Nassau and Suffolk Counties, New York.

Trust for Public Land, 2011. The Economic Benefits of Seattle's Park and Recreation System. .

USDA, 2011. Farm of the Future: Working lands for ecosystem services.

Weber, M. A. 2007. Riparian Valuation in the Southwestern United States. University of Arizona.

Wilson, S. J. 2008. Ontario's wealth, Canada's future: Appreciating the value of the Greenbelt's ecoservices.

Woodward, R., Wui, Y. 2001. The economic value of wetland services: a meta-analysis. Ecological Economics 37(2): 257-270.

Wu, J., Skelton-Groth, K. 2002. Targeting conservation efforts in the presence of threshold effects and ecosystem linkages. Ecological Economics 42(1-2): 313-331.

Yihong et al. 2011. Ecosystem Services Approach Pilot on Wetlands

Yoo, J., Simonit, S., Connors, J. P., Kinzig, A. P., Perrings, C. 2014. The valuation of off-site ecosystem service flows: Deforestation, erosion and the amenity value of lakes in Prescott, Arizona. Ecological Economics 97: 74-83.

Zavaleta, E. 2000. The Economic Value of Controlling an Invasive Shrub. Ambio: A Journal of the Human Environment 29(8): 462-467.

Zhongwei, L. 2006. Water Quality Simulation and Economic Valuation of Riparian Land-Use Changes. University of Cincinnatti.

Carbon

DeLonge, M.S., Ryals, R., Silver, W. 2013. A Lifecycle Model to Evaluate Carbon Sequestration Potential and Greenhouse Gas Dynamics of Managed Grasslands. Ecosystems 16: 962-979.

Liu, S., Liu, J., Young, C.J., Werner, J.M., Wu, Y., Li, Z., Dahal, D., Oeding, J., Schmidt, G., Sohl, T.L., Hawbaker, T.J., Sleeter, B.M. 2012. "Chapter 5: Baseline carbon storage, carbon sequestration, and greenhouse-gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems

Schmidt, J.P., Moore, R., Alber, M. 2014. Landscape and Urban Planning 122: 56-67

Smith, J.E., Heath, L.S., Skog, K.E., Birdsey, R.A. 2006. Methods for calculating forest ecosystem and harvested carbon with standard estimates for forest types of the United States. USDA Forest Service Northeastern Research Station, General technical rep

Crooks, S., Rybczyk, J., O'Connell, K., Devier, D.L., Poppe, K., Emmett-Mattox, S. 2014. Coastal blue carbon opportunity assessment for the Snohomish Estuary: the Climate Benefits of Estuary Restoration. Report by Environmental Science Associates, Western

Ryals, R., Silver, W.L. 2013. Effects of organic matter amendments on net primary productivity and greenhouse gas emissions in annual grasslands. Ecological Applications 23: 46-59. Wylynko, D. 1999. Prairie wetlands and carbon sequestration: Assessing sinks under the Kyoto Protocol. International Institute for Sustainable Development, 45 pp.

Appendix D – Action G-12 Benefit, Avoided Cost of Service Provision

Shifting patterns of urban and suburban development affect regional resiliency in multiple ways, but perhaps the most immediately evident are changes to cost of providing public services to residents. This analysis looks specifically at these changes to county, town, and city government expenditures in Thurston County.

This analysis considers development expected to occur from 2017 to 2040, under two Sustainable Thurston project scenarios, the Baseline of "business as usual," and another known as Preferred Land Use, which seeks to incentivize targeted urban development and redevelopment. The associated service provisioning costs have been projected through 2065, for consistency with our earlier assessment of net present values over a 50 year planning horizon.

Different patterns of development (e.g., urban vs. rural) and dwelling types (e.g., single-family vs. multifamily), lead to varying costs for the provision of public services. For instance, the perhousehold cost to extend power lines to homes in urban areas is far less than for rural or suburban homes. To estimate these cost differences, this analysis draws from a report of development patterns in Halifax, Nova Scotia,^{xv} using their estimates of the differential costs of providing public services to various dwelling types to estimate similar Thurston County, city, and town government expenditures.

Using the per-household cost of service for varying development patterns and rates of development, this analysis compares the baseline scenario to the preferred land use scenario. Calculations and sources are detailed below.

Dwelling types

After adapting the classification of dwelling types in the Halifax study to those in the Sustainable Thurston project, the following development patterns were provided by TRPC for the baseline year, 2016, as well as the two development scenarios.

Distribution of dwelling types, provided by TRPC (aggregated multiple categories from Sustainable Thurston Plan)

Dwelling Types	2016 Units	2040 Baseline Units	2040 Preferred Land Use Units
Pattern B	34,652	42,045	36,858
Pattern D	43,134	72,942	69,203
Pattern E	12,557	13,550	13,849
Pattern F	18,676	32,451	31,858
Pattern G	6,219	9,486	14,226
Total	115,238	170,475	165,994

Thurston County 2016 Cost of Service by Dwelling Type

2016 Thurston County/Town/City Public Service Expenditures^{xvi} = \$538,749,979

b = Cost of service provision per household, pattern B

Solve for b, then adjust other development patterns (D,E,F,G) according to Halifax Percent of Pattern B service cost

Cost = (b x number of B units)

- + ((b x (Halifax cost per unit Pattern D / Halifax cost per unit Pattern B)) x (number of D units))
- + ((b x (Halifax cost per unit Pattern E / Halifax cost per unit Pattern B)) x (number of E units))
- + ((b x (Halifax cost per unit Pattern F / Halifax cost per unit Pattern B)) x (number of F units))
- + ((b x (Halifax cost per unit Pattern G / Halifax cost per unit Pattern B)) x (number of G units))

\$538,749,979= 34,652b + (b x (\$3,088/\$4,112) x 43,134) + (b x (\$1,914/\$4,112) x 12,557) + etc.

\$538,749,979= 34,652b + 32350.5b + 5901.8b + etc.

\$538,749,979= 84,917.03b

b = \$6,344.43

Dwelling Types	Cost/Household (CAN 2004)	Percentage of Pattern B Service Cost	Thurston County Units 2016	Projected Thurston County Cost/Household (2016\$)
Pattern B	\$4,112.00		34,652	\$6,344.43
Pattern D	\$3,088.00	75%	43,134	\$4,758.32
Pattern E	\$1,914.00	47%	12,557	\$2,981.88
Pattern F	\$2,172.00	53%	18,676	\$3,362.55
Pattern G	\$1,413.00	34%	6,219	\$2,157.11

Table 6. Projected Service Provision Costs per Household

Rate of Development

To calculate total service costs associated with development, the rate of development was assumed constant over the analysis period, 2017 to 2040. Year 2016 is excluded, assuming that the first additional units will be completed in 2017 and final units finished in 2040. This enables the calculating of annual costs of service provision, accounting for the increase in units over time.

Dwelling Types	Change in units 2040 Baseline	Change in units 2040 Preferred	Rate of Development Baseline (2017-2040) (Units/year)	Rate of Development Preferred (2017-2040) (Units/year)
Pattern B	7,393	2,206	308.04	91.92
Pattern D	29,808	26,069	1,242.00	1,086.21
Pattern E	993	1,292	41.38	53.83
Pattern F	13,775	13,182	573.96	549.25
Pattern G	3,267	8,007	136.13	333.63

Annual Service Provision Costs

Annual increase in cost of services is calculated based on the number of dwellings completed from the 2016 baseline. Additional dwellings of each type are multiplied by the respective annual service costs. From 2041 to 2065, no additional development is assumed, but annual service costs of dwellings built from 2017 to 2040 are continued through 2065. This allows for a 50-year net present value calculation for total service provision costs under each scenario. The difference in service provision cost, represents the savings by the county.

Thurston County Savings

- = Total Baseline Service Provision Costs
- Total Preferred Land Use Service Provision Costs = \$703,497,600

Appendix E – Action G-12 Cost, Impact Fees and Tax Exemption

Impact Fees

Subsidizing development and redevelopment in urban centers, urban corridors, and other residential centers results in a loss to city, county, and state revenue, through lowered fees and revenues. The dollar values in this analysis (2016\$), were derived from a comparison of impacts fees for two Olympia development projects, one within the subsidized downtown zone, and one outside.

Transportation Impact Fee Per Unit, Non Subsidized = \$2,293

Parks Impact Fee Per Unit, Non Subsidized = \$3,196

Transportation Impact Fee Per Unit, Subsidized = \$0

Park Impact Fee Per Unit, Subsidized = \$2,614

Baseline Scenario

Number of New Multifamily Units in Targeted Development Zone = 3,267 units

Number of New Multifamily Units Outside of Targeted Development Zone = 13,775 units

Baseline Revenue Per Unit

= Transportation Impact Fee, non subsidized

+ Park Impact Fee, non subsidized = (\$2,293 + \$3,196) = \$5,489 per unit

Total Baseline Revenue = \$5,489 *per unit* * 17,042 *units* = \$93,543,538

Future Development Scenario

Number of New Multifamily Units in Targeted Development Zone = 8,007 units

Number of New Multifamily Units Outside of Targeted Development Zone = 13,182 units

Future Development Revenue Per Unit in Targeted Development Zone = Transportation Impact Fee, subsidized + Park Impact Fee, subsidized = (\$0 + \$2,614) = \$2,641 per unit

Future Development Revenue Per Unit Outside of Targeted Development Zone = Transportation Impact Fee, non subsidized

+ Park Impact Fee, non subsidized = (\$2,293 + \$3,196) = \$5,489 per unit

Total Future Development Revenue

= (\$2,614 per unit * 8,007 units) + (\$5,489 per unit * 13,182 units)

= \$93,286,296

Difference Between Scenarios

Reduced Impact Fee Revenue = \$93,543,538 - \$93,286,296 = \$257,242

Tax Exemption

Tax exemptions for development and redevelopment projects in urban centers, corridors, and residential centers can be significant incentives for developers. This scenario applies the average annual tax exemptions from a downtown Lacey project completed in 2008, ^{xvii} and assumes a constant rate of development from 2017 to 2040. Tax holidays were applied to new multifamily dwellings in the urban corridor starting the year of the expected building completion and assumed to continue for 12 years. In other words, units completed in 2040 would be tax exempt until 2051.

Multifamily Tax Exemption Per Unit Per Year = \$1,161 per unit per year

Number of New Multifamily Units in Targeted Development Zone = 8,007 *units*

Number of New Multifamily Units Constructed Annually in Targeted Development Zone = 334

Total Annual Tax Exemption = (\$1,161 per unit per year) * (334 units) = \$387,415.36 per year

Total Tax Exemption (2.875% Discount Rate over 35 year period) = \$70,583,995.42

Appendix F – Land Cover Estimates

Action F-01 (Restoration)

2011 NOAA C-CAP land cover within a 100-foot buffer of the Deschutes River was used for the Baseline Scenario under Action F-01.

Change in land cover was estimated using the riparian shade improvement targets identified in the Deschutes River TMDL.^{xvii} Shade improvement targets represent the increase in percent canopy cover needed at each river kilometer to meet water quality standards. "Total Acres to Restore" was equal to the sum of the shade improvement times the area (including the 100-foot buffer) of each kilometer segment.

Acreage in ten "unrestored" land cover classes was reduced proportionally by "Total Acres to Restore". Land cover in three forest land cover classes was increased proportionally by the same amount. Land cover classes are listed in Table 7.

Table 7. Land Cover Cl	lasses Adjusted in Actior	ι F-01 Restoration Scenario
------------------------	---------------------------	-----------------------------

Land Cover Classes <u>Decreased</u> by Total Acres to Restore	Land Cover Classes <u>Increased</u> by Total Acres to Restore
 Barren Land Cultivated (Crops) Developed, High Intensity Developed, Medium Intensity Developed, Low Intensity Developed, Open Space Grassland/Herbaceous Pasture/Hay 	 Deciduous Forest Evergreen Forest Mixed Forest
 Scrub/Shrub Shoreline 	

Action G-12 (Infill)

Using TRPC's parcel-level population estimates for 2011 and 2011 NOAA C-CAP land cover, average land cover across ten residential density categories was calculated (Table 8).

Dwelling Units / Acre	High Intensity Developed	Med. Intensity Developed	Low Intensity Developed	Developed Open space	All Other Land Covers
0 to 0.1	0%	1%	3%	4%	92%
0.1 to 0.2	0%	0%	5%	7%	88%
0.2 to 0.5	0%	1%	10%	11%	78%
0.5 to 1.0	1%	2%	23%	15%	59%
1 to 2	0%	5%	35%	15%	45%
2 to 5	0%	14%	55%	8%	22%
5 to 10	2%	39%	43%	6%	10%
10 to 20	5%	45%	36%	5%	9%
20 or More	12%	47%	27%	7%	7%

Table 8. Percent Land Cover for Residential Density Groups

For the Baseline and Preferred Land Use scenarios, percent land cover in the four developed land cover classes was calculated by demining the maximum residential density of each parcel (based on zoning, critical areas, and existing uses) and multiplying the parcel area by the respective land cover percent in Table 8. The calculated developed land cover area was added to the 2011 land cover; non-developed covers were decreased proportionately.

In situations where there was already developed land covers on the parcel, it was assumed that developed land covers would not be converted to less intensive categories.

References

ⁱ Thurston Regional Planning Council, 2017. Climate Adaptation Plan - Project Overview. Olympia, TRPC.

ⁱⁱ Thurston Regional Planning Council, 2017. Climate Adaptation Plan - Action Tables (draft). Olympia, TRPC.

ⁱⁱⁱ Arrow et al. 1996. Is There a Role for Benefit-Cost Analysis in Environmental, Health, and Safety Regulation. Science vol. 272, pp. 221-222. Retrieved at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Robert_Stavins/publication/265376985_Is_There_A_Role_for_BenefitCost_Analysis/links/540a04fe0cf2f2b29a2ccbc6.pdf

^{iv} Meyer et al. 1995. Elwha River Restoration Project: Economics Analysis – Final Technical Report. Retrieved at: https://www.nps.gov/olym/learn/nature/upload/Economic%20analysis.pdf

^v Swanson & Loomis. 1996. Role of Nonmarket Economic Values in Benefit-Cost Analysis of Public Forest Management. Retrieved at: https://www.fs.fed.us/pnw/pubs/pnw_gtr361.pdf

^{vi} Marsh et al. 2012. Estimating cost-effectiveness in public health: a summary of modelling and valuation methods. Health Economics Review 2 (17). Retrieved at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3484026/

^{vii} Seattle Public Utilities, 2011. Stage Gate 2: Approve Business Case Knickerbocker Floodplain Reconnection Project. Retrieved at: http://ch2mhillblogs.com/water/wpcontent/uploads/2013/05/Knickerbocker-Floodplain-Reconnection-SG2-12-07-11_2-2.pdf

^{viii} Mojica, J., Cousins, K., Briceno, T., 2016. National Economic Analysis of the Four Lower Snake River Dams: A Review of the 2002 Lower Snake Feasibility Report/Environmental Impact Statement. Economic Appendix (I). Earth Economics, Tacoma, WA.

^{ix} Royal Engineers and Consultants, LLC., and Earth Economics. 2016. Basin-wide Socio-economic Analysis of Four Proposed Sediment Diversions. Final Report to the Louisiana Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority in Fulfillment of Task 3.5 of the Scope of Work, CPRA Contract No. 2053-14-27, Task Order 1. 235 pages.

^{xi} Thurston Regional Planning Council, 2017. Preferred Land Use Scenario. Retrieved from: http://www.trpc.org/498/Preferred-Land-Use-Scenario

^{xii} Flores et. al. 2012. The Natural Value of Thurston County, A Rapid Ecosystem Service Valuation. Earth Economics, Tacoma, WA.

^{xiii} PRISM Project Search, Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office. Retrieved from: https://secure.rco.wa.gov/prism/search/projectsearch.aspx

^{xv} Financial Services, HRM, 2004. Settlement Pattern & Form with service costs analysis Preliminary Report. Retrieved at: http://www.jtc.sala.ubc.ca/reports/PatternBook.pdf ^{xvi} Office of the Washington State Auditor, 2017. 2016 expenditures for Thurston County, WA and the 7 Cities or Towns within. LGFRS Reports. Retrieved from: http://portal.sao.wa.gov/LGCS/Reports/ReportMain.aspx

^{xvii} WA Department of Ecology, 2016. Deschutes River Watershed Area: Deschutes River, Percival Creek, and Budd Inlet Tributaries. Water Quality Improvement Project. Retrieved from: www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wq/tmdl/deschutes/DeschutesTributariesTMDL.html



www.eartheconomics.org